
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 
 

BOXY LLC, a California Limited Liability 
Company, HANNAH M. SERIMIAN, an 
individual,  

Plaintiff, 

v. 

JAY AT PLAY INTERNATIONAL 
HONG KONG LIMITED d/b/a JAY AT 
PLAY, a Hong Kong Corporation, JAY 
FRANCO AND SONS, an Arkansas 
Corporation, JOSEPH A. SUTTON, an 
individual, ALAN J. SUTTON, an 
individual.  

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Civil Action No. _________ 

JURY DEMANDED  

 

 
COMPLAINT 

 
Plaintiffs Boxy LLC (“Boxy”) and Hannah M. Serimian (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) by and 

through their undersigned counsel, complain against Defendants Jay at Play International Hong 

Kong Limited d/b/a Jay at Play (“Jay at Play”), Jay Franco and Sons, Inc. (“Jay Franco”), Joseph 

A. Sutton and Alan J. Sutton (collectively, “Defendants”) as follows:  

NATURE OF ACTION 
 

1. This is an action for trademark infringement, unfair competition and counterfeiting 

under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1051 et seq., for unauthorized publication of name or likeness 

under Section 540.08, Florida Statutes, and the common law of the State of Florida, and for 

violation of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”) Section 501.201 

et. seq., Florida Statutes, and for common law unfair competition. Plaintiffs seek equitable and 
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monetary relief to remedy the substantial harm they have sustained as a result of Defendants’ 

malicious and unlawful acts, as described below.  

2. In 2015, Plaintiff Hannah Serimian launched her home goods and lifestyle brand 

“Boxy Girl.” Female-founded and led, Boxy Girl built its brand around offering solutions for the 

home, including beauty products, accessories, and apparel. Like many emerging ecommerce 

startups, Boxy Girl sold its products online and marketed them through digital platforms such as 

Facebook, Instagram, YouTube, Google, and Amazon.  Through hard work and dedication, and 

by offering thoughtfully curated products with innovative design and uncompromising quality, 

Hannah Serimian steadily built Boxy Girl’s brand awareness, brand reputation and sales.  

3. But in 2018, Boxy Girl found its brand and identity suddenly under attack by 

Defendants, who launched a line of dolls named “Boxy Girls.” Defendants’ “Boxy Girls” dolls 

offensively objectify young girls and women, and teach children that all they should aspire to do 

in life is shop online. Indeed, one reporter from The UK Sunday Times says he is “troubled” with 

Defendants’ “Boxy Girls,” calling them the “ambassadors of the new consumerism.”  (See Exhibit 

A1.)  He further noted that children who are given Defendants’ “Boxy Girls” dolls also receive the 

message that “unwrapping pretty stuff you bought online is the highest form of human endeavour.” 

(Id.)  The “Boxy Girls” dolls “unbox” accessories, apparel and products that are nearly identical 

to Plaintiffs’ “Boxy Girl” products. Defendants’ “Boxy Girls” brand, concept, doll names, Internet 

presence and marketing are highly similar if not identical to Plaintiffs’ lifestyle brand, concept, 

founder’s name, Internet presence and marketing.  

                                                 
1 See “What do the shopaholic Boxy Girls dolls say about the values we’re teaching our kids?, 
The Times, December 16, 2018, https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/josh-glancy-what-do-the-
shopaholic-boxy-girls-dolls-say-about-the-values-we-re-teaching-our-kids-6pjdqx77f 
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4. Defendants are causing significant confusion in the marketplace with Plaintiff and 

are irreparably harming Plaintiffs’ brand reputation and goodwill. The photographs below 

demonstrate some of the ways defendants deliberately copy the original Boxy Girl brand:  

PLAINTIFFS’ BOXY GIRL DEFENDANTS’ BOXY GIRLS  

   
“Hannah” the “Boxy Girl” 

 
“Hannah,” one of Defendants’ “Boxy Girls” 

 
Plaintiffs’ “Boxy Girls” with  Boxes 

 
Defendants’ “Boxy Girls” with Boxes 

 
5. Defendants’ deliberate targeting of the original Boxy Girl brand has resulted in 

significant consumer confusion to the detriment of Plaintiffs. For instance, Defendants’ unhappy 

and dissatisfied customers often contact Plaintiffs by phone, email and social media, believing 

Defendants’ dolls are associated with Plaintiffs. Additionally, Plaintiffs’ own customers and 

prospective customers regularly report to Plaintiffs that they believe Plaintiffs sell “Boxy Girls” 

dolls.  

6. Defendants have intentionally optimized Internet search engines and seeded the 

Internet and social media with search terms such as “Boxy Girls,” “Hannah,” “Makeup,” 
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“Clothes,” “Shoes,” and “Jewelry,” which are terms that describe Plaintiffs and their products, to 

direct consumers to their “Boxy Girls” brand instead of to the original Boxy Girl home goods and 

lifestyle brand. As a result, Plaintiffs’ customers frequently report having a difficult time finding 

Plaintiffs’ website or products online, because when they search for Plaintiffs, they can only find 

Defendants and/or Defendants’ products, as shown below:   

 
Defendants’ 

Search 
Results 

 

 
Plaintiffs’ 

Search 
Results 

 

 
7. Moreover, Defendants have previously engaged in predatory trademark 

infringement practices and have a sordid history of knocking off the business ideas and brand 

names created by women-owned businesses. One example of this conduct is a prior lawsuit 

between pro se plaintiff Tracee Lawson and Defendants. Ms. Lawson invented a design for a jacket 

that can be rolled up into a backpack, and received a U.S. design patent for her invention, U.S. 

Design Pat. No. D737,570. Ms. Lawson further filed a federal trademark application for the mark 

JACKET-PACK-IT and launched a business under that trademark selling those products. On 

information and belief, after meeting Ms. Lawson at a trade show and expressing interest in her 

JACKET-PACK-IT and doing business with her, Defendants intentionally copied Ms. Lawson’s 

business idea and brand name by launching their own product: JACKET PACK IT PETS, which 

were also jackets that fold into backpacks. The only difference is that Defendants’ products, 

directed at children, also look like animals. Ms. Lawson sued Defendants. On information and 
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belief, Defendants prevented Ms. Lawson from ever earning any substantial business from her 

invention and brand name, while they profited handsomely from her brand name, business idea, 

and hard work. On information and belief, Defendants used their substantial means and the 

financial pressure of litigation to avoid any consequences for their theft of Ms. Lawson’s 

intellectual property. As another example, Defendants were also sued by plaintiff Lisa Caramanis 

for patent infringement, after Ms. Caramanis invented and patented a Combined Seat Belt Cover 

and Pillow (U.S. Pat. No. 6,409,271) for child passengers, and Defendants misappropriated that 

idea with their Seat Pets brand of identical products. On information and belief, Defendants once 

again used their substantial means and the financial pressure of litigation to give Ms. Caramanis 

no other choice than to settle and dismiss her lawsuit. Plaintiffs are merely Defendants’ latest 

victim. 

8. As a result of Defendants’ actions, consumers are associating Defendants’ 

offensive doll brand with Hannah Serimian herself, the original “Boxy Girl.” This is particularly 

disturbing because Hannah Serimian is a self-made, female CEO who started her own successful 

company and exemplifies strong, fearless women in a male-dominated industry—the exact 

opposite message portrayed by Defendants’ shopaholic dolls, which exemplify consumerism and 

objectified beauty as the highest goals to which young girls should aspire.  

9. Despite Defendant’s knowledge of Boxy, and despite several requests by Boxy to 

stop unlawfully using Boxy’s intellectual property, Defendants have instead doubled down and 

continued to promote the confusingly similar “Boxy Girls” brand, including by naming one of 

their dolls “Hannah” intentionally and maliciously only after Ms. Serimian first approached 

Defendants to complain about their brand name and consumer confusion. Defendants have 

essentially assaulted Plaintiffs’ brand name and Ms. Hannah Serimian’s likeness to the point where 
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consumers cannot search “Boxy Girl” and “Hannah” on the Internet without being confused as to 

whether Defendants’ “Boxy Girls” are associated with Plaintiffs, (if they can even find Plaintiffs’ 

“Boxy Girl” brand in the search results in the first place). These actions have caused and continue 

to cause insurmountable confusion and irreparable harm to the goodwill and reputation of both 

Boxy and Ms. Serimian individually. As a result, Plaintiffs have no other option than to protect 

their interests by seeking expedient relief in this Court.   

THE PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff Boxy LLC is a California corporation, having its principal place of 

business at 4960 W. Bluff Avenue, Fresno, California 93722. 

11. Plaintiff Hannah M. Serimian is an individual and citizen of the State of California 

and the United States, who resides in Fresno, California. Ms. Serimian owns and operates Boxy.  

12. On information and belief, Defendant Jay at Play International Hong Kong Limited 

d/b/a Jay at Play (“Jay at Play”) is a Hong Kong Corporation, having a principal place of business 

at 5901 Broken Sound Pkwy, Suite 202, Boca Raton, Florida 33487.  

13. On information and belief, Defendant Jay Franco and Sons, which is the parent 

company of and/or controls the actions of Jay at Play, is an Arkansas Corporation, having a 

principal place of business at 295 5th Avenue, Suite 312, New York, New York 10016.  

14. On information and belief, Defendant Joseph A. Sutton is an individual and citizen 

of the State of Florida and the United States, who resides in Delray Beach, Florida and is a 

corporate officer for Jay at Play and Jay Franco and Sons.  

15. On information and belief, Defendant Alan J. Sutton is an individual and citizen of 

the State of New Jersey and the United States, who resides in Voorhees, New Jersey and is a 

corporate officer for Jay at Play and Jay Franco and Sons.  
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16. On information and belief, all Defendants are knowingly infringing Boxy’s 

trademarks and/or facilitating the infringement of Boxy’s trademarks through the sale of dolls, doll 

accessories, and various home goods, including towels and bed linens, under the names BOXY 

GIRLS and/or BOXY BABIES.  

17. Defendants Jay at Play, Jay Franco, Joseph A. Sutton and Alan J. Sutton are 

collectively are referred to as “Defendants.” 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

18. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), 

and 1338(a) and (b) because the claims address federal questions concerning the Lanham Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1121, trademark infringement of federally registered trademarks pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 

1114, and federal unfair competition pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  

19. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the claims arising under the laws of 

the State of Florida, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), because the state law claims are so related to 

the federal subject-matter claims that they form part of the same case or controversy and derive 

from a common nucleus of operative fact. 

20. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants, because Defendants have 

transacted business in the State of Florida, made contracts substantially connected with this State, 

and committed tortious acts within, and directed to, this State. Particularly, Boxy’s claims for 

trademark infringement, unfair competition and counterfeiting arise from harm sustained in the 

State of Florida, including, upon information and belief, through the sale and offering for sale of 

dolls, doll accessories and various home goods, including towels and bed linens, under the mark 

BOXY GIRLS (“Boxy Girls Products”) to customers located in Florida. Upon information and 

belief, Defendants have purposefully directed activity at the State of Florida by transacting 

business within the State of Florida. On further information and belief, Defendants are causing 
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tortious injury in the State of Florida by acts or omissions outside of the State of Florida. On 

information and belief, Defendant Jay at Play has moved its principle place of business to Florida. 

On further information and belief, Defendant Joseph Sutton is a resident of Delray Beach, Florida.  

21. Venue is proper in this Judicial District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

FACTS RELEVANT TO ALL COUNTS  

A.    Boxy’s Business and Hannah Serimian the Original “Boxy Girl”  

22. Boxy is an industry leader in providing solutions for the home and solutions that 

improve daily routines, as well as apparel, beauty products and accessories for the everyday 

woman. Boxy’s brand offerings include BOXY GIRL branded home goods, organizers, beauty 

products, apparel and accessories, BOXY branded home goods, organizers, apparel, accessories 

and beauty products, BOXY BABY branded tote bags, baby bubble bath, baby lotion, baby oil, 

organizers, apparel and accessories, BOXY BOY branded bath and body products, tote bags, 

organizers, apparel and accessories, and BOXY VINTAGE toys, dolls boxes, children’s books, 

mirrors, home goods, grooming sets, baby jars, artwork, trays, dining ware, jars, tins, pottery, 

organizers and vanity sets, among other brands and goods.  

23. The idea for Boxy and the first and original BOXY GIRL brand began in 2011. 

Boxy’s Founder, Plaintiff Hannah Serimian was looking for makeup, jewelry and accessories 

storage for herself and her daughters. After discovering there were not only a lack of options for 

these types of products, but also that the existing organizers and home solutions products on the 

market were unattractive and of poor quality, Ms. Serimian set out to create her own innovative, 

quality product and lifestyle brand.  

24. Ms. Serimian understood the value of branding and intellectual property from the 

very outset and filed her first trademark applications for the BOXY GIRL mark in 2011. Ms. 

Case 9:20-cv-80893-XXXX   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/04/2020   Page 8 of 35



 

9 
 

Serimian also filed for and obtained two U.S. design patents for the original BOXY GIRL 

organizer.  

25. Ms. Serimian launched the BOXY GIRL brand in September 2015 with her first 

product, the Boxy Girl Four Stack Organizer. Through Ms. Serimian’s organic marketing efforts, 

she worked with top tier celebrities and beauty influencers to unbox Boxy and BOXY GIRL-

branded products, and share them across digital platforms such as Facebook, Instagram, YouTube, 

Google, and Amazon.  Very quickly, women and girls across the United States and the globe fell 

in love with the irresistible way to organize and display their makeup, beauty products, jewelry, 

accessories, toys, and other products, with the Boxy Girl Four Stack Organizer.  

26. Shortly after launching BOXY GIRL, Ms. Serimian was featured in the CVLUX 

Magazine on September 4, 2015, where she explained how useful the Boxy Girl Four Stack 

Organizer can be for organizing a variety of home goods. (See Exhibit B.) Specifically, Ms. 

Serimian noted that her family used the Four Stack Organizer to store and display their TV 

remotes, her daughter’s doll dresses and accessories, and her son’s Legos. (See Exhibit B.) In that 

same article, Ms. Serimian said that her young children wanted to take the product to “show and 

tell” other young children at school. (See Exhibit B.)   

27. Plaintiffs continuously advertised that the Boxy Girl Organizers were a home 

organization solution for more than merely beauty products. For instance, as early as October 2015, 

Boxy posted a video on YouTube showing young girls playing with dolls and doll accessories, 

including doll clothing, and using the Boxy Girl organizer to store and display those doll 

accessories, as shown below and attached as Exhibit C: 
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PLAINTIFFS’ BOXY GIRL FOUR STACK 
ORGANIZER 

 

28. Due to high interest in the original BOXY GIRL-branded product by many different 

types of consumers and Ms. Serimian’s vision to expand BOXY GIRL, Boxy grew its BOXY 

GIRL brand to include the Boxy Girl Single Stack Organizer, the Boxy Girl Double Stack 

Organizer and the Boxy Girl Triple Stack Organizer by January 2016, and then the Boxy Girl Build 

Your Own Vanity (“BYOV”) product lines and Boxy Girl Jewelry Organizers by February 2017, 

all to better serve the customer’s home solution needs.  

29. Ms. Serimian engaged in comprehensive brand outreach through collaborative 

efforts with celebrities and influencers beginning in 2016 and 2017. Boxy has been featured on 

several TV shows and news programs, in numerous newspaper and magazine articles, and digital 

media outlets such as Good Housekeeping, People Style Magazine, PopSugar, Real Simple 

Magazine, NBC New York, USA Today, Brides Magazine, and Business News. Copies of some 

of these magazine and newspaper articles are attached collectively as Exhibit D.   

30. Boxy’s sales grew substantially in 2016 and 2017, with a 55% increase in 2016 and 

a 142% increase in 2017.  
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31. Throughout 2018 and 2019, Boxy expanded its business to include additional 

BOXY lifestyle brands dedicated to empowering women and men in all aspects of their lives—

beyond home goods organization. Boxy began offering several new product lines under the BOXY 

GIRL, BOXY, BOXY BABY and BOXY BOY brands. 

32.  Since its foundation in 2015, Boxy always planned to expand its home goods and 

lifestyle brand to include product lines that appeal to women, men, children and babies. For 

instance, Boxy filed its first intent-to-use trademark applications for BOXY BABY, BOXY BOY 

and BOXY in 2015, which cover a variety of home goods and lifestyle products geared towards 

all consumers. Boxy is currently working on expanding its BOXY, BOXY GIRL, BOXY BOY 

and BOXY BABY lifestyle brands to include more products geared towards children and babies, 

including toys, action figures, dolls and accessories. Boxy is also expanding its BOXY brands to 

include more apparel and accessories and will also be launching a BOXY BASICS brand.   

33. Throughout the past five years, Boxy has built its strong brand reputation and 

goodwill by offering high-quality, innovative and versatile products that enrich people’s lives, and 

by providing impeccable customer service.  

34. Ms. Serimian has also used her own likeness as the “Boxy Girl” to promote the 

brand. Specifically, Ms. Serimian branded herself as the original “Boxy Girl,” a confident and 

versatile woman, juggling life as a wife, mother and entrepreneur in an organized and ever-stylish 

way. Hannah Serimian is the face of the brand—the recognizable image that consumers associate 

with Boxy. Specifically, Ms. Serimian appears in TV interviews, podcasts, social media, blog 

posts, and other forms of marketing, to promote the brand and thus, consumers have come to 

associate “Hannah” as “Boxy Girl” and “Boxy Girl” as “Hannah.”  
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35. Boxy has further built its brand, digital footprint, and reputation by engaging 

consumers on social media, and partnering with other brands, influencers and industries, including 

the entertainment industry.  Boxy has also worked with several movie and television studios to 

provide its beloved organizers to professional makeup artists in the entertainment industry, 

including artists who work with CBS, 20th Century Fox, ABC, the CW, Sony Pictures, Netflix, 

Warner Brothers and NBC. As part of these efforts, Boxy has visited the set of several television 

shows to provide organizers to makeup artists, including Dancing with the Stars, American Horror 

Story, Jane the Virgin, The Connors, and Will & Grace. Boxy continues to publicize these efforts 

on its website and/or social media accounts. 

36. Through its strategic outreach, Boxy’s products have also been endorsed by several 

notable beauty influencers and celebrity fans, including Kylie Jenner—one of the most followed 

celebrities on social media—and other top celebrities and beauty influencers such as Rita Moreno, 

Megan Mullally, and Tamra Judge.  

37. Ms. Serimian has built the Boxy business and brands methodically and deliberately, 

from the ground up, through these types of organic marketing engagements. From the very 

beginning, Ms. Serimian understood that by reaching consumers through digital platforms and 

marketing efforts, Boxy could create strong brand awareness and affinity.  She recognized that the 

emergence of ecommerce consumer behaviors, the way businesses engage consumers in the 

marketplace has changed drastically in just a few short years.  She decided to spread awareness of 

her brand and high-quality products by fostering relationships with leading makeup artists, 

partnering with other brands and social media influencers, and building her own social media 

following under “The Boxy Boss” pseudonym.  Ms. Serimian has been featured in magazines, 
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business journals and TV Shows as the inventor of the BOXY GIRL brand and its  products, and 

also as a rising female entrepreneur and CEO.  

38. As a successful woman in business, Ms. Serimian influences and inspires women 

and girls every day to be their true, mindful and authentic selves. She spreads her message of 

women empowerment and gender equality through her personal Instagram page, the Boxy Girl 

Instagram pages, and her YouTube channel, as well as through interviews, and through hosting 

the BOXY GIRL RADIO podcast.  Specifically, the BOXY GIRL RADIO podcast is dedicated to 

open and authentic discussions about important issues facing women in business today.   

39. Boxy and Ms. Serimian are in the early stages of developing an initiative through 

which Boxy will work with both women and men to spread awareness about misogyny and sexism 

and how they impact gender inequality in the boardroom, workplace and politics. Boxy and Ms. 

Serimian aim to redefine the conversation about gender inequality by promoting the understanding 

that everyone benefits when female founders are at the forefront of innovation and product 

development, and women are in business and leadership roles, especially when it comes to 

products for women and young girls.  Boxy’s message and belief is that “women in business is 

good business.”     

40. Despite all of these efforts, Defendants’ conduct has injured the goodwill and 

reputation of Boxy and Ms. Serimian by making it nearly impossible to find Plaintiffs online, by 

intentionally adopting Ms. Serimian’s name as the name of mindless, consumerist doll, and by 

being known for their unresponsive and unhelpful customer service—with consumers mistakenly 

contacting Boxy and believing that Boxy has been unresponsive or unhelpful. 
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B.  Boxy’s Valuable Intellectual Property Rights  

41. Boxy has duly and properly registered its BOXY-formative trademarks with the 

United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) on the Principal Register. Boxy owns 

several registered marks and pending applications (collectively, along with common law 

trademark rights, the “BOXY Marks”). Copies of these registrations, or their corresponding 

USPTO website pages, are attached collectively as Exhibit E. Below is a chart with some of 

Boxy’s registrations for the BOXY Marks:  

Mark Reg. Date Full Goods/Services 

BOXY GIRL 
 
RN: 4105732 

Feb. 28, 2012 
 

(Int'l Class: 14) Jewelry boxes;  
(Int'l Class: 18) Cosmetic boxes, namely, cosmetic cases sold empty; and  
(Int'l Class: 20) Plastic storage boxes 

BOXY GIRL 
 
RN: 5763746 

May 28, 2019 
 

(Int'l Class: 03) Body creams; body lotion; bubble bath; cosmetic hand creams; 
eye cream; hair shampoos and conditioners; perfume 

BOXY GIRL 
 
RN: 5665608 

Jan. 29, 2019 
 

(Int'l Class: 18) Cosmetic bags sold empty; cosmetic cases sold empty; make-up 
bags sold empty; purses; travel bags; travel cases 

BOXY GIRL 
 
RN: 5715902 

April 2, 2019 
 

(Int'l Class: 03) Bath and shower gels and salts not for medical purposes; bath 
salts; bath soaps; beauty creams; beauty lotions; beauty masks; beauty serums; 
body and beauty care cosmetics; body sprays; cosmetic creams; cosmetic 
masks; cosmetics; cosmetics and make-up; cosmetics in general, including 
perfumes; essential oils; make-up 

BOXY BABY 
 
RN: 5751534 

May 14, 2019 
 

(Int'l Class: 03) Baby bubble bath; Baby hair conditioner; Baby hand soap; Baby 
lotion; Baby oils; Baby powder; Baby shampoo; Baby wipes; Bath soaps; 
Bubble bath; Essential oils; Hair shampoos and conditioners 

BOXY BABY 
 
RN: 5807108 

July 16, 2019 
 

(Int'l Class: 20) Plastic bins; Plastic boxes; Plastic boxes for packaging 
consumer and retail items; Plastic shipping and storage boxes 

BOXY BABY 
 
RN: 5475884 

May 22, 2018 
 

(Int'l Class: 18) Baby backpacks; baby carrying bags; bags for carrying babies' 
accessories; travel bags; travel cases 

 
42. The federal trademark registrations referenced above are valid and subsisting and 

provide conclusive evidence of Boxy’s right to use the BOXY Marks. Boxy’s U.S. Reg. No. 

4,105,732 for BOXY GIRL referenced above is also incontestable under 15 U.S.C. § 1065. As 
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such, Boxy’s incontestable federal trademark registration confers exclusive use of the BOXY 

GIRL Mark throughout the United States in connection with jewelry boxes, cosmetic boxes, 

namely, cosmetic cases sold empty, plastic storage boxes, and commercially-related products.  

43. While Boxy first obtained federal trademark protection for its original products, 

jewelry and cosmetics organization boxes, Boxy has gradually expanded its product portfolio to 

encompass a lifestyle brand that includes accessories, men’s and women’s apparel, beauty 

products, baby products, and men’s grooming products (collectively, “Boxy’s Goods”), and Boxy 

is working on expanding its product lines into goods for children.  

44. Boxy has extensively used the BOXY Marks and has advertised, promoted and 

offered several products including organizers, apparel, accessories, beauty products, baby products 

and men’s grooming products under the BOXY Marks in interstate commerce through various 

channels of trade. As a result, customers and potential customers of Boxy, and the public in 

general, have come to recognize the BOXY Marks as identifying Boxy’s lifestyle brand. The 

consuming public has also come to recognize Boxy’s products sold and offered under the BOXY 

Marks as being of the highest quality, and that Boxy itself offers the highest caliber of customer 

service. Boxy has thus built up extensive and invaluable goodwill in connection with the sale of 

goods offered under the BOXY Marks.  Boxy has also built an extensive digital footprint of 

consumer engagement across ecommerce platforms.  

C.  Defendants’ Vast Market Power And Record of Stealing Women’s Ideas  

45. Defendants are in the business of selling boxes, toys, accessories, and other 

products marketed towards children (really, the parents of children, as most children do not have 

their own money to spend).   
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46. On information and belief, Defendants Jay at Play and Jay Franco collectively earn 

annual revenues in the hundreds of millions of dollars, and the two individual Defendants own, 

control and direct at least Jay at Play. Defendants also have significant relationships with large 

retailers like Wal-Mart, Amazon and Target such that Defendants have an immense amount of 

resources and market power, through which they can drown out smaller market players like 

Plaintiffs.  

47. On information and belief, rather than working themselves to develop their own 

new ideas or brand names for products aimed at children and their parents, Defendants have a 

history of stealing intellectual property, ideas and brand names from small, female-founded 

businesses and startup companies. Through their immense resources and market power, as well as 

through industry contacts developed with that market power, Defendants have taken the ideas, 

concepts, and brand names created and developed by women and their small companies, and 

brought to market either directly-competing products that infringe patents owned by those women, 

or similar/related products sold under the same or highly similar brand names used by those women 

and their small companies.   

48. Over the last few decades, the Internet has drastically changed how products are 

marketed and sold to consumers. For example, many consumers now use Google and other search 

engines to search for and find the brand name of products they wish to purchase. Further, many 

consumers follow companies and influencers on social media, and first learn about or otherwise 

decide to purchase products through their social media activities. 

49. Through Defendants’ massive advertising campaigns, which have included online 

ads, television commercials, search engine optimization (SEO) and social media campaigns, 

Defendants have effectively “drowned out” the original creators, developers and users of brand 
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names they have stolen, such that Internet users who search for those brand names only find the 

website and/or products sold by Defendants.  

50. On information and belief, Defendants’ prefer to select brand names that are already 

associated with a rising social media and digital platform engagements, which they improperly use 

to launch new product lines—and they do this so that consumers who are already searching for the 

brand name with a rising following on the Internet and social media will learn about and ultimately 

purchase Defendants’ products. In this way, Defendants need not build a social media following 

or digital footprint for their products to be found.  

51. Because Defendants’ collective revenues are, on information and belief, over a 

hundred million dollars a year, they can easily outspend smaller businesses in online marketing 

and legal fees. It does not appear to be a coincidence that the companies from which Defendants 

steal their ideas and brand names are small, and primarily—if not, exclusively—run by women. 

As explained in detail above with respect to prior lawsuits filed against Defendants, Boxy—a 

female-founded startup company that was rapidly growing and building a substantial social media 

presence in 2016 and 2017—is merely Defendants’ latest victim.  

 D.  Defendants’ Unlawful Conduct Against Plaintiffs  

52. On September 27, 2017, Defendants filed United States Trademark Application 

Serial No. 87624860, an intent-to-use trademark application for the trademark BOXY GIRLS, 

proposed for use with dolls and doll accessories. This trademark application was initially refused 

by an Examining Attorney at the USPTO based on a likelihood of confusion with Boxy’s BOXY 

GIRL trademark.  

53. Defendants’ BOXY GIRLS mark is nearly identical or substantially 

indistinguishable from Plaintiffs BOXY GIRL marks, as shown below:  
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PLAINTIFFS’ MARK DEFENDANTS’ MARK 

BOXY GIRL BOXY GIRLS 
 
In the initial refusal of Defendants’ trademark application, the USPTO concluded that the marks 

were “essentially identical,” and thus confusingly similar.   

54. On information and belief, Defendants intentionally adopted and used the nearly 

identical or substantially indistinguishable BOXY GIRLS mark so as to create consumer confusion 

and traffic off of Plaintiffs’ reputation and goodwill under the BOXY GIRL marks. On further 

information and belief, Defendants knowingly adopted the BOXY GIRLS trademark so as to 

generate interest and web traffic and ride off of Boxy’s reputation and goodwill under the BOXY 

Marks, and particularly under its house mark BOXY GIRL. Moreover, on information and belief, 

Defendants adopted the BOXY GIRLS name to directly and indirectly profit off of the social media 

and Internet presence that Ms. Serimian built on behalf of the BOXY GIRL and BOXY brands.  

55. On information and belief, Defendants adopted and began using the mark BOXY 

GIRLS knowing that Plaintiffs, a small startup business, could not outspend them in marketing 

expenses or fees, and could not defeat their search engine optimization tactics. On May 21, 2018, 

Defendants began selling BOXY GIRLS branded dolls.  

56. On information and belief, consumers are likely to purchase Defendants’ BOXY 

GIRLS branded dolls, believing they are associated with Plaintiffs, thereby resulting in the loss of 

goodwill and economic harm to Plaintiffs.   

57. When they were first introduced, Defendants BOXY GIRLS dolls are packaged 

with four stacked boxes. This concept is nearly identical to the Boxy Girl Four Stack Organizer.  
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58. On information and belief, Defendants chose four stackable boxes, so that 

consumers searching for either “Boxy Girl” or “Four Stack” to find Ms. Serimian’ s products, 

would instead come across Defendants BOXY GIRLS dolls.  

59. Shortly after Defendants launched their BOXY GIRLS products, consumers began 

to express confusion. For example, over the course of Summer and Fall 2018, numerous consumers 

asked Ms. Serimian whether her company and BOXY GIRL brand was affiliated with the dolls. 

Others who were searching for Ms. Serimian’ s Boxy business online told Ms. Serimian that they 

could no longer find her, her business or her products online, because the BOXY GIRLS dolls 

were so prominently featured in online search results.  

60. Between May and July 2018, Boxy began receiving many calls, emails and social 

media inquiries in which the consumer contacting Boxy either asked if Boxy was affiliated with 

Defendants BOXY GIRLS products, or, more often, the consumer mistakenly believed that Boxy 

was Defendants. Many of those communications came from individuals complaining about 

Defendants or their BOXY GIRLS products, including that they had experienced bad customer 

service when trying to resolve their complaints with Defendants over email or social media.  

61. On information and belief, Defendants purposely and intentionally engaged in 

search engine optimization (SEO) such that consumers searching for “Boxy Girl” or “Four Stack” 

would first encounter Defendants’ products—and not Ms. Serimian’s Boxy business and products.  

62. On July 31, 2018, Boxy sent Defendants a letter demanding that Defendants cease 

using the BOXY GIRLS mark because it was causing confusion in the marketplace with Boxy’s 

BOXY Marks, and specifically with the BOXY GIRL products.  

63. Defendants refused to stop selling the BOXY GIRLS dolls. In fact, Defendants 

decided to double down, and soon after launched their next round of four BOXY GIRLS dolls, 
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one of which was named Hannah—Ms. Serimian’ s first name. On information and belief, 

Defendants named one of their next dolls “Hannah” so that consumers searching for “Boxy Girl” 

and “Hannah,” in an attempt to find Ms. Serimian or her business or products, would instead find 

the “Hannah” BOXY GIRLS doll and other websites relating to BOXY GIRLS. On information 

and belief, Defendants are profiting off of, and benefitting from, Ms. Serimian’s name, name 

recognition, reputation and goodwill.  

64. Defendants have engaged in similar behavior with their SEO strategy. For example, 

when a person searches “Boxy Girl” on Google, the first result is an ad for Defendants’ BOXY 

GIRLS official website, and the ad text begins with the wording “Unbox Makeup, Clothes, Shoes, 

Jewelry & More.” Notably, the BOXY GIRL mark is registered for and associated with jewelry 

and cosmetics—as well as for organization solutions for jewelry and cosmetics. Thus, Defendants 

are intentionally using search terms with their BOXY GIRLS mark that were first used with Boxy 

and its BOXY GIRL brand. Moreover, and curiously, in those same ads, Defendants never use the 

word “dolls,” even though that is what their products are, and what they claim their brand is first 

associated with by consumers.  

65. Besides adopting Ms. Serimian’s given name for a BOXY GIRLS doll and using 

similar and identical keywords associated with Ms. Serimian’s products and business, Defendants 

expanded their use by further copying Boxy’s own brand expansion. In July 2015, Boxy first 

applied to register the mark BOXY BABY with the USPTO for various products for babies and 

children including bubble bath, oils and lotions, plastic storage boxes, baby backpacks, carrying 

bags, bags for carrying babies’ accessories, and travel bags.  

66. Defendants’ BOXY BABIES mark is nearly identical or substantially 

indistinguishable from Plaintiffs BOXY BABY marks, as shown below:  
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PLAINTIFFS’ MARK DEFENDANTS’ MARK 

BOXY BABY BOXY BABIES 
 

67. After the initial success of their BOXY GIRLS products, Defendants launched a 

new product line of dolls called BOXY BABIES, which also featured stackable boxes.  

68. On information and belief, Defendants purposely and intentionally adopted and 

launched BOXY BABIES to benefit from Boxy’s interest, web traffic, reputation and goodwill 

under the BOXY Marks, including the BOXY BABY marks. On information and belief, 

Defendants further adopted the BOXY BABIES mark so that consumers searching for “Boxy 

Baby” to find Boxy’s products would instead find Defendants’ products.  

69. Defendant Jay Franco & Sons, in association with Defendant Jay @ Play, has 

further launched a line of home goods under the mark “BOXY GIRLS.”  On information and 

belief, Jay Franco & Sons’ line includes beach towels, apparel and bedding.  Jay Franco & Sons 

offers these products for sale in and into the State of Florida at popular retailers and on-line retailers 

such as Target, Wal-Mart, Amazon and Zulily. 

70. On information and belief, Defendants purposely and intentionally adopted the 

BOXY GIRLS mark with home goods to ride off Boxy’s reputation and goodwill under the BOXY 

Marks, including the BOXY Marks associated with towels and home goods.   

71. On information and belief, Defendant further adopted the BOXY GIRL mark with 

home goods, towels, bedding and apparel so that consumers searching for Boxy’s products would 

instead find Jay Franco & Sons’ products.  

 E.  Substantial Injury and Irreparable Harm to Plaintiffs  

72. As detailed above with respect to misdirected phone calls and emails, often with 

individuals complaining about Defendants, their BOXY GIRLS products or their poor customer 
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service, Defendants’ use of BOXY GIRLS and BOXY BABIES has caused actual confusion in 

the marketplace.   

73. Defendant Jay at Play currently has an F-rating from the Better Business Bureau.  

74. On October 12, 2018, a Vox article was published about Jay at Play and the BOXY 

GIRLS brand. (See Exhibit F.) At that time, according to the article, Jay at Play also held “an F-

rating from the Better Business Bureau, mostly due to reports of unresponsive or unhelpful 

customer service.” In the same article, Defendant Joseph A. Sutton was quoted as saying that Jay 

at Play was “looking to build the brand [BOXY GIRLS] tenfold.”  

75. Defendants use of BOXY GIRLS and BOXY BABIES has resulted in damage and 

detriment to Boxy and its reputation and goodwill. At a minimum, Defendants have been forced 

to divert their efforts, responding to numerous phone calls, voicemails, emails, and other 

communications reflecting instances of actual consumer confusion. Moreover, many consumers 

who are unhappy with the Defendants’ products and customer service—which problems are well 

documented—associate that unpleasant experience with Boxy and its BOXY GIRL brand.  

76. Plaintiffs’ reputation and goodwill are further injured because Defendants’ BOXY 

GIRLS message to young girls is antithetical to Plaintiffs’ mission and brand. In particular, 

Defendants’ dolls are unnaturally thin, and laser focused on online shopping for material goods. 

Defendants also appear to be proud of this, seeing as the aforementioned Vox article was entitled 

“Boxy Girls are dolls whose only hobby is online shopping.” (Id.) Defendants’ dolls thus implicitly 

influence young girls to believe that their physical looks and shopping habits give them self-worth, 

and that other hobbies like sports, science and entrepreneurship cannot compete with the way one 

feels when opening boxes of goods purchased online. Defendants’ dolls encourage young girls to 

be, and to become mindless consumers, and to avoid hobbies that would actually contribute to 
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their self-worth, growth and development. In contrast, Plaintiffs’ BOXY brand empowers women 

and focuses on gender equality. Consumers who are unhappy with or offended by Defendants’ 

brand message and dolls will associate that dissatisfaction with Plaintiffs’ products.  

77. Defendants use of the “Hannah” BOXY GIRLS doll has damaged and caused 

detriment to Hannah Serimian’ s likeness, reputation and goodwill. Specifically, on information 

and belief, consumers associate the “Hannah” BOXY GIRLS doll with Hannah Serimian. The 

“Hannah” doll is portrayed by Defendants as being into “hippie fashion,” and obsessed with online 

shopping and material things—because, for example, “she’s always on the lookout for flower 

power accessories.” (See Exhibit G (emphasis added).) By deliberately creating a doll with this 

name, and by ensuring that anyone searching for “Hannah” and “Boxy Girl” on the Internet first 

and foremost finds a doll that represents mindless consumerism and objectified beauty, 

Defendants’ have injured Ms. Serimian, and injured her business and her reputation with her 

customers and potential customers.  

78. Since Defendants BOXY GIRLS and BOXY BABIES products have launched, 

Boxy’s revenue has dropped significantly. On information and belief, Defendants’ actions have 

directly and indirectly caused this loss of revenue. 

COUNT I 
FEDERAL TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT 

(15 U.S.C. §1114(1)) 

79. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 78, as if fully set forth herein.  

80. Plaintiffs own valid United States Trademark Registrations for its BOXY Marks, 

including the BOXY GIRL and BOXY BABY Marks, for a variety of goods and services including 

organizational boxes, beauty products, accessories and apparel, all as part of a home goods and 

lifestyle brand.  
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81. Defendants have distributed and sold substantial quantities of dolls and doll 

accessories under the “BOXY GIRLS” and “BOXY BABIES” trademarks.  

82. Defendants’ BOXY GIRLS and BOXY BABIES marks are identical to or 

substantially indistinguishable from Plaintiffs’ BOXY Marks in appearance, sound, meaning, and 

commercial impression, such that Defendants’ use thereof has caused and is likely to cause (i) 

confusion, mistake, and deception as to the origin of Defendants’ products, (ii) the public to be 

confused, deceived, and to assume erroneously that Defendants’ products are in some way 

connected with, licensed, authorized, or affiliated with Plaintiffs, and (iii) irreparable injury and 

damage to Plaintiffs and to the goodwill and reputation associated with the BOXY Marks.  

83. Likelihood of confusion is enhanced by Plaintiffs’ use of the BOXY Marks with an 

expanding home goods and lifestyle brand that includes products for adults, children and babies.  

Plaintiffs’ and Defendants’ products are marketed and sold to the same consumers.  

84. Likelihood of confusion is further enhanced by the fact that Defendants’ are using 

Internet search terms commonly associated with Plaintiffs’ products to direct consumers to 

Defendants’ products.  

85. Consumers of Defendants’ products often have reason to be unhappy with those 

products due to poor quality, packaging problems, missing pieces, and the like. Moreover, 

Defendants are known to have reports of unresponsive and unhelpful customer service. These 

negative effects on customers of Defendants’ products carry over to Plaintiffs and injure Plaintiffs’ 

reputation and goodwill. Indeed, Plaintiffs have received several phone calls and emails that 

express complaints about their BOXY GIRLS products.  

86. Defendants’ acts have caused and, unless and until such acts are enjoined by this 

Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1116, will continue to cause Plaintiffs great and irreparable injury. 
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87. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law for their loss of goodwill and damage to 

their reputation. 

88. Under 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover their actual damages and 

Defendants’ profits attributable to their infringement of Plaintiffs’ BOXY Marks. Moreover, under 

that same statute, this case is exceptional, and Plaintiffs are entitled to recover their reasonable 

attorney’s fees.  

COUNT II 
FEDERAL UNFAIR COMPETITION 

(Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)) 

89. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 78, as if fully set forth herein.  

90. Defendants’ use of the BOXY GIRLS and BOXY BABIES marks constitute unfair 

competition and a false designation of origin or false or misleading description or representation 

of fact, which is likely to deceive customers and prospective customers into believing that 

Defendants’ products are associated with or sponsored by Plaintiffs, in violation of Section 43(a) 

of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

91. Defendants’ actions cause or are likely to cause confusion or mistake among the 

source of Defendants’ products, or to confuse the public into believing that Defendants’ products 

are otherwise affiliated, connected, associated with, or sponsored by Plaintiffs, in violation of 

Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

92. Plaintiffs have no control over the nature and quality of Defendants’ products 

bearing the nearly identical BOXY GIRLS and BOXY BABIES marks.  Any failure, neglect, or 

default of Defendants in providing high quality goods or high quality or responsive customer 

service has reflected, and will continue to reflect, adversely on Plaintiffs. 
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93. Upon information and belief, Defendants intentionally adopted and used the BOXY 

GIRLS and BOXY BABIES marks to create consumer confusion and ride off Plaintiffs’ reputation 

and goodwill under the BOXY Marks, including the BOXY GIRL and BOXY BABY Marks. 

94. Plaintiffs are informed on, believe and allege that Defendants have derived 

unlawful gains and profits from their infringement of the BOXY Marks. 

95. The goodwill of Plaintiffs’ business under the BOXY Marks is of great value, and 

Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable harm should Defendants’ infringement be allowed to continue 

operating to the detriment of the Plaintiffs’ trade reputation and goodwill. 

96. Defendants’ acts have caused and, unless and until such acts are enjoined by this 

Court under 15 U.S.C. § 1116, will continue to cause, great and irreparable injury to Plaintiffs. 

97. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law for their loss of goodwill and damage to 

their reputation. 

98. Under 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover their actual damages and 

Defendants’ profits attributable to their infringement of Plaintiffs’ marks. Under that same statute, 

this case is exceptional, and Plaintiffs are entitled to recover their reasonable attorney’s fees.  

COUNT III 
COUNTERFEIT OF REGISTERED TRADEMARK 

(15 U.S.C. §1114) 
 

99. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 78, as if fully set forth herein.  

100. Plaintiffs own valid United States Trademark Registrations for its BOXY Marks. 

Before Defendants’ committed the actions complained of herein, Plaintiffs had continuously used 

the BOXY Marks throughout the United States in connection with Boxy’s goods.  
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101. Defendants’ use of a non-genuine versions of the BOXY Marks that are identical 

to, or substantially indistinguishable from, the BOXY Marks (the “Counterfeit Mark”).  

102. The BOXY Marks are registered on the Principal Register, and Defendants are 

intentionally using the Counterfeit Mark to falsely suggest that Defendants’ “Boxy Girls” and 

“Boxy Babies” products are associated with or sponsored by Plaintiffs’ brand.  

103. Plaintiffs did not authorize Defendants’ use of the Counterfeit Mark, and such 

unauthorized use of the BOXY Marks is likely to confuse consumers into falsely believing that 

Defendants’ “Boxy Girls” and “Boxy Babies” dolls are associated with or sponsored by Plaintiffs’ 

home goods and lifestyle brand.  

104. Defendants’ use of the Counterfeit Mark without consent from Plaintiffs was and 

is a willful and intentional infringement of Plaintiffs’ registered BOXY Marks.  

105. Defendants have profited from their acts of infringement. Plaintiffs are entitled to 

recover Defendants’ profits arising from the infringement, any damages sustained by Plaintiffs 

arising from said infringement, as well as the costs of this action. Plaintiffs are also entitled to an 

enhanced award of profits and/or damages to fully and adequately compensate them for 

Defendants’ infringement. At their election, Plaintiffs are also entitled to statutory damages. 

106. Defendants have caused and, unless enjoined by this Court, will continue to cause 

irreparable injury to Plaintiffs that is not fully compensable in monetary damages. Plaintiffs are 

therefore entitled to a permanent injunction enjoining and restraining Defendants from use of the 

BOXY Marks or any other mark that is confusingly similar to the BOXY Marks. 

COUNT IV 
MISAPPROPRIATION OF LIKENESS 

(§ 540.08, FLA. STAT. (2018)) 

107. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 78, as if fully set forth herein.  
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108. Defendants knew of Plaintiff Hannah Serimian before adopting the name “Hannah” 

for Defendants’ products.  

109. Defendants knew that Plaintiff Hannah Serimian owned and operated the BOXY 

GIRL brand before adopting the name “Hannah” for Defendants’ products.  

110. On information and belief, Defendants knew that Plaintiff Hannah Serimian called 

herself the “Boxy Girl” before adopting the name “Hannah” for one of Defendants’ products.  

111. Defendants intentionally adopted use of Ms. Serimian’s first name “Hannah” as the 

name of a product to capitalize off Ms. Serimian’s likeness.  

112. On information and belief, consumers associate the “Hannah” named BOXY 

GIRLS doll with Plaintiff Hannah Serimian. Alternatively, new prospective customers of Plaintiffs 

who are at first unfamiliar or less familiar with Ms. Serimian and Plaintiffs’ BOXY GIRL and 

other “BOXY” brands are likely to conduct Internet searches regarding Ms. Serimian and her 

BOXY GIRL products, but are likely to find search results corresponding primarily, if not 

exclusively, with Defendants—and then immediately question whether Ms. Serimian and her 

products are affiliated with Defendants’ BOXY GIRLS dolls. This has already happened and been 

reported to Ms. Serimian numerous times. 

113. On information or belief, Defendants are unlawfully profiting off Plaintiff Hannah 

Serimian’ s name through the same of the “Hannah” name BOXY GIRLS doll.  

114. Defendants’ use of the name “Hannah” with the Hannah BOXY GIRLS doll has 

caused injury and irreparable harm to Ms. Serimian. 

115. Ms. Serimian has no adequate remedy at law.  

COUNT V 
COMMON LAW MISAPPROPRIATION OF LIKENESS 
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116. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 78, as if fully set forth herein.  

117. Defendants knew of Plaintiff Hannah Serimian before adopting the name “Hannah” 

for Defendants’ products.  

118. Defendants knew that Plaintiff Hannah Serimian owned and operated the BOXY 

GIRL brand before adopting the name “Hannah” for Defendants’ products.  

119. On information and belief, Defendants knew that Plaintiff Hannah Serimian called 

herself the “Boxy Girl” before adopting the name “Hannah” for Defendants’ products.  

120. Defendants intentionally adopted use of Ms. Serimian’s first name “Hannah” as the 

name of a product to capitalize off Ms. Serimian’s likeness.  

121. On information and belief, consumers associate the “Hannah” named BOXY 

GIRLS doll with Plaintiff Hannah Serimian. Alternatively, new prospective customers of Plaintiffs 

who are at first unfamiliar or less familiar with Ms. Serimian and Plaintiffs’ BOXY GIRL and 

other “BOXY” brands are likely to conduct Internet searches regarding Ms. Serimian and her 

BOXY GIRL products, but are likely to find search results corresponding primarily, if not 

exclusively, with Defendants—and then immediately question whether Ms. Serimian and her 

products are affiliated with Defendants’ BOXY GIRLS dolls. This has already happened and been 

reported to Ms. Serimian numerous times. 

122. On information or belief, Defendants are unlawfully profiting off Plaintiff Hannah 

Serimian’ s name through the same of the “Hannah” name BOXY GIRLS doll.  

123. Defendants’ use of the name “Hannah” with the Hannah BOXY GIRLS doll has 

caused injury and irreparable harm to Ms. Serimian. 

124. Ms. Serimian has no adequate remedy at law.  
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COUNT VI 
DECEPTIVE & UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES UNDER FDUTPA 

(§§ 501.201-501.213, Fla. Stat. (2018)) 
 

125. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 78, as if fully set forth herein.  

126. The above-described conduct of Defendants constitutes deceptive trade practices in 

violation of Sections 501.201-501.213, Florida Statutes, insofar as it: 

(a) passes off goods or services as those of another;  

(b) causes likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding as to the source, sponsorship, 

approval, or certification of goods or services; 

(c) causes likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding as to affiliation, connection, or 

association with or certification by another; 

(d) represents that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics, 

ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not have or that a person has a 

sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or connection that he or she does not have; and 

(e) represents that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, or grade. 

127. Defendants’ conduct constitutes deceptive trade practices in that their conduct in 

trade and commerce use and employ practices set out in Section 2 of the Uniform Deceptive Trade 

Practices Act, and/or constitute the use and/or employment of deception, fraud, false pretense, 

false promise, misrepresentation and/or the concealment, suppression and/or omission of a 

material fact, with an intent that others rely upon the concealment, suppression or omission of such 

material act. 

128. Defendants have engaged in the above-described conduct willfully and deliberately 

and with full knowledge of Plaintiffs’ rights. 
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129. Defendants’ aforesaid conduct has caused and, unless and until such conduct is 

restrained and enjoined by this Court, will continue to cause great, immediate, and irreparable 

injury to Plaintiffs, including irreparable injury to its reputation and goodwill. 

130. As the direct and proximate result of Defendants’ statutory violations and other 

wrongful conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered and will continue to suffer actual injury and the loss of 

money in an amount to be proven at trial. 

131. Plaintiffs have realized revenue and profits by virtue of their wrongful conduct that 

they otherwise would not have obtained and to which they are not entitled. 

COUNT VII 
COMMON LAW UNFAIR COMPETITION 

 

132. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 78, as if fully set forth herein.  

133. Defendants’ use of the BOXY GIRLS and BOXY BABIES marks constitute unfair 

competition and a false designation of origin or false or misleading description or representation 

of fact, which is likely to deceive customers and prospective customers into believing that 

Defendants’ products are associated with or sponsored by Plaintiffs, in violation of the common 

law of the State of Florida.  

134. Defendants’ actions cause or are likely to cause confusion or mistake among the 

source of Defendants’ products, or to confuse the public into believing that Defendants’ products 

are otherwise affiliated, connected, associated with, or sponsored by Plaintiffs. 

135. Plaintiffs have no control over the nature and quality of Defendants’ products 

bearing the nearly identical BOXY GIRLS and BOXY BABIES marks.  Any failure, neglect, or 

default of Defendants in providing high quality goods or high quality or responsive customer 

service has reflected, and will continue to reflect, adversely on Plaintiffs. 
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136. Upon information and belief, Defendants intentionally adopted and used the BOXY 

GIRLS and BOXY BABIES marks to create consumer confusion and ride off Plaintiffs’ reputation 

and goodwill under the BOXY Marks, including the BOXY GIRL and BOXY BABY Marks. 

137. Plaintiffs are informed on, believe and allege that Defendants have derived 

unlawful gains and profits from their infringement of the BOXY Marks. 

138. The goodwill of Plaintiffs’ business under the BOXY Marks is of great value, and 

Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable harm should Defendants’ infringement be allowed to continue to 

the detriment of the trade reputation and goodwill of Plaintiffs. 

139. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law for their loss of goodwill and damage to 

their reputation. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray for the following relief:  

A. Enter a judgment in favor of Plaintiffs against Defendants, jointly and severally, on 

all Counts alleged herein;  

B. Find that Plaintiffs have unlawfully, willfully, and without authorization infringed 

on and counterfeited Plaintiffs’ BOXY Marks, and engaged in unfair competition, all in violation 

of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1114, 1125, 1127 et seq. 

C. Order that Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, 

confederates, and all persons acting for, by, through or under it be preliminarily and permanently 

enjoined from: 

1) using the BOXY GIRLS and BOXY BABIES marks, or any similar marks, 

and engaging in any other activity that infringes the BOXY Marks; 

2) engaging in any activity constituting unfair competition with Plaintiffs; 

Case 9:20-cv-80893-XXXX   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/04/2020   Page 32 of 35



 

33 
 

3) registering or applying to register the BOXY GIRLS or BOXY BABIES 

marks and/or any other trademark, service mark, domain name or other 

source identifier or symbol of origin consisting of or incorporating the term 

BOXY, BOXY GIRLS or BOXY BABIES or any other mark that infringes 

or is likely to be confused with the BOXY Marks; and  

4) Using the name “Hannah” as a name associated with any of its products.  

D. Order that Defendants withdraw their trademark applications for the marks BOXY 

GIRLS and BOXY BABIES, and pursuant to 15 U.S. C. § 1116, that they be directed to file with 

the Court and serve upon Plaintiff within thirty (30) days after issuance of an injunction, a report 

in writing and under oath setting forth in detail the manner and form in which Defendants have 

complied with this requirement. 

E. Award monetary relief to Plaintiffs in an amount to be determined by the Court in 

its discretion, as just, including:  

1) All profits received by Defendants from sales and revenues of any kind 

made as a result of their infringing actions; 

2) All damages sustained by Plaintiffs as a result of Defendants’ acts of 

infringement, unfair competition and counterfeiting including but not 

limited to ascertainable damages, costs, and attorney fees, including 

punitive damages; and 

3) That the Court treble the damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117. 

F. That Defendants’ conduct be found to have been willful, that this case be deemed 

exceptional under 15 U.S.C. § 1117, and that Plaintiffs be awarded their reasonable attorney’s 

fees; and 
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G. That Plaintiffs shall have such other and further relief as this Court may deem just 

and proper.  
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JURY DEMAND 
 

Plaintiffs request a trial by jury as to all issues triable to a jury. 
 
 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 BOXY LLC, and HANNAH SERIMIAN  
 

Dated: June 4, 2020    By: /s/ Jed Dwyer____  
 
 
Cameron M. Nelson (pro hac vice 
forthcoming)  
nelsonc@gtlaw.com  
Barry R. Horwitz (pro hac vice 
forthcoming) 
horwitzb@gtlaw.com  
Jacqueline V. Brousseau (pro hac vice 
forthcoming) 
brousseauj@gtlaw.com  
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
77 West Wacker Drive, Suite 3100 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
Telephone: 312-456-8400 
Facsimile: 312-456-8435 
 
Jared E. Dwyer 
Florida Bar No. 104082 
dwyerje@gtlaw.com 
Stephanie Peral 
perals@gtlaw.com  
Florida Bar No. 119324 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.A. 
333 SE 2nd Avenue Suite 4400 
Miami, FL  33131 
Telephone: (305)579-0500 
Facsimile: (305) 579-0717 
 
Counsel for Plaintiffs  
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